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INTRODUCTION

On June 1, 1865, Frederick Douglass strode into the Great Hall of New York’s Cooper Union where an “immense mixed audience, people of color predominating,” gathered to hear the famed African American orator eulogize Abraham Lincoln, assassinated six weeks earlier because he had, for the first time, publicly endorsed Black voting rights. “Every seat was filled, and several hundred persons were compelled to stand,” according to the New York Times. On the extended platform sat scores of prominent citizens alongside “a select class of young ladies,” students at the city’s Black schools, who sang several numbers that evening. Presiding over the event was the Black abolitionist and educator Ransom F. Wake, who read a long statement condemning “in unmeasured terms” the New York City Council’s order, issued in April, forbidding African Americans from participating in the funeral procession when the train bearing Lincoln’s remains to Springfield passed through Manhattan. Incensed by the Council’s action, Wake helped organize the Cooper Union meeting to protest the ban and allow African Americans to properly mourn Lincoln.

After reading the protest, Wake introduced Douglass, who began by further condemning the Council’s action as “one of the most disgraceful and sickening manifestations of moral emptiness ever exhibited by any nation or people professing to be civilized.” But, he asked, paraphrasing Hamlet’s query about Queen Hecuba of Troy, “what was Lincoln to the colored people or they to him?” Answering his own question, he stated flatly that Lincoln was “emphatically the black man’s President, the first to show any respect for the rights of a black man, or to acknowledge that he had any rights the white man ought to respect,” the first chief executive to rise “above the prejudices of his times and country.” Lincoln treated each African American “not as a patron, but as an equal.”1

Months earlier, at the opposite end of the ideological spectrum, a Democratic newspaper which had been critical of Lincoln used some of that very language while asking with a sneer, “When did we ever have a President that made so much of the negro, or was ever [so] willing to take him into his private and social circles as Abraham Lincoln does? Mr. Lincoln is emphatically the black man’s president and the white man’s curse.”2

The best evidence to support the contention that Lincoln was “emphatically the black man’s president” is not just his policy decisions and public statements regarding emancipation, the enrollment of Black troops, and Black voting rights, but also his personal relations with African Americans. Because interactions speak louder than words, Lincoln’s views on race are best understood through an examination of his dealings with Black Illinoisans and Black Washingtonians. His meetings with Frederick Douglass are well-known, but not his similarly revealing encounters with many other African Americans.



As a racial egalitarian, Lincoln condemned the doctrine of White superiority. “Let us discard all this quibbling about this man and the other man—this race and that race and the other race being inferior, and therefore they must be placed in an inferior position,” he boldly announced at the outset of his campaign for the Senate in 1858. “Let us discard all these things, and unite as one people throughout this land, until we shall once more stand up declaring that all men are created equal…. I leave you, hoping that the lamp of liberty will burn in your bosoms until there shall no longer be a doubt that all men are created free and equal.”3 The following year, while praising the Declaration of Independence, he referred scornfully to the belief that there were “superior races”: “The principles of Jefferson are the definitions and axioms of free society. And yet they are denied and invaded, with no small show of success. One dashingly calls them ‘glittering generalities’; another bluntly calls them ‘self evident lies’; and still others insidiously argue that they apply only to ‘superior races.’ ”4 He warned White supporters of the enslavement of African Americans that they too might logically be enslaved: “You say A. is white, and B. is black. Is it color, then [that justifies enslaving people]; the lighter, having the right to enslave the darker? Take care. By this rule, you are to be slave to the first man you meet, with a fairer skin than your own.”5

Historian David S. Reynolds observed that Lincoln’s “public racial pronouncements were sometimes conservative,” yet those “public racial pronouncements” made during his presidency were often far from conservative.6 In 1864, for example, while accepting an honorary membership in the New York Workingmen’s Democratic Republican Association, he declared, “None are so deeply interested to resist the present rebellion as the working people. Let them beware of prejudice, working division and hostility among themselves.” Alluding to New York’s murderous anti-Black draft riots of the previous year, he stated that the “most notable feature of a disturbance in your city last summer, was the hanging of some [Black] working people by other working people. It should never be so. The strongest bond of human sympathy, outside of the family relation, should be one uniting all working people, of all nations, and tongues, and kindreds.” Lincoln reminded the Workingmen’s Association of what he had told Congress three years earlier: “The prudent, penniless beginner in the world, labors for wages awhile, saves a surplus with which to buy tools or land for himself; then labors on his own account another while, and at length hires another new beginner to help him. This is the just, and generous, and prosperous system, which opens the way to all—gives hope to all, and consequent energy, and progress, and improvement of condition to all.”7

Lincoln believed that the chief aim of government was “to lift artificial weights from all shoulders—to clear the paths of laudable pursuit for all—to afford all, an unfettered start, and a fair chance, in the race of life.”8 The Declaration of Independence stated that “all men are created equal” and “endowed by their Creator with certain unalienable Rights.” Individuals—not states, not regions, not identity groups—were endowed with rights. He rejected the “concurrent majority” theory of John C. Calhoun, who insisted that the two main regions—North and South—had equal rights, particularly to carry into the western territories whatever they wished, including slaves. Lincoln likewise rejected the notion that one race had rights that other races did not.

While Lincoln stressed that all people deserved “an unfettered start, and a fair chance, in the race of life,” he did not believe that everyone would succeed equally. As he told a Connecticut audience in 1860, “I want every man to have the chance—and I believe a black man is entitled to it—in which he can better his condition.” He added that “it is best for all to leave each man free to acquire property as fast as he can. Some will get wealthy. I don’t believe in a law to prevent a man from getting rich.” He and his fellow Republicans, he insisted, “wish to allow the humblest man an equal chance to get rich with everybody else.”9

Lincoln thought that success in the race of life depended on resolute determination, industry, and dedication to self-improvement. To one young man who wished to become a lawyer, he suggested that “work, work, work, is the main thing.”10 To another, he wrote, “your own resolution to succeed, is more important than any other one thing.” He added that if the would-be attorney was “resolutely determined to make a lawyer of yourself,” then “the thing is more than half done already.”11 To his junior law partner, he explained that “the way for a young man to rise is to improve himself every way he can, never suspecting that any body wishes to hinder him.”12 When a friend of his eldest son was denied admission to college, Lincoln offered words of encouragement: “you can not fail, if you resolutely determine, that you will not.”13

Lincoln’s advice resembled that of Frederick Douglass, who declared that even people of “only ordinary ability and opportunity” can succeed in the race of life if they would make their watchwords “WORK! WORK!! WORK!!! WORK!!!!” Douglass elaborated: “Not transient and fitful effort, but patient, enduring, honest, unremitting and indefatigable work into which the whole heart is put.”14

Lincoln championed equality of opportunity, not of results. Industrious, resolutely determined, self-improving, upwardly striving people of all races and religions would succeed if artificial weights were lifted from their shoulders and the paths of laudable pursuit were cleared. If some people failed, it was not the fault of the free labor system but rather “because of either a dependent nature which prefers it, or improvidence, folly, or singular misfortune.”15



Chapter 1 covers Lincoln’s years in Springfield, where, as historian Kenneth J. Winkle noted, “Lincoln had extensive interaction with African Americans,” living in a racially mixed neighborhood, representing African American clients, employing Black servants, knowing Black conductors on the Underground Railroad, befriending a leader of the Black community, and championing the antislavery cause.16 Springfield’s Black residents “were a significant part not only of the town’s life, but of Abraham Lincoln’s life and environment,” according to historian and attorney Richard Hart.17

Lincoln did not meet with Black visitors during the first year of his presidency, but throughout his time in the White House he did interact with the mansion’s Black staff members. Chapter 2 examines those interactions with African American employees, who found him a cordial, respectful, natural egalitarian. Among them was a leader of Washington’s Black community, the impressive William Slade, who served as chief butler as well as a confidant to Lincoln. This chapter also describes Lincoln’s interactions with African Americans outside the White House, including his memorable tour of Richmond soon after Union forces captured it, his visits to hospitals, and his inspection of United States Colored Troops.

In April 1862, the proverbial ice was broken when Lincoln met with two Black leaders whose visits are covered in Chapter 3. The first was Bishop Daniel Payne of the African Methodist Episcopal Church, a prominent educator with whom he discussed the abolition of slavery in Washington; the second was another prominent educator, Alexander Crummell, a philosopher who came seeking to promote colonization in Liberia, where he lived. This chapter also presents an overview of Lincoln’s views on colonization, the subject of a controversial meeting he held with some leaders of Washington’s Black community.

Chapter 4 describes and analyzes that event in depth, arguing that the president aimed his remarks not primarily at his five African American guests but at the millions of people in the lower north and border states who might disapprove of the Emancipation Proclamation that he was poised to issue. Those potential dissenters were willing to support the war as long as it was perceived as a struggle to restore the Union, but not if it were to become an abolitionist crusade. By letting them know that he was actively supporting the resettlement abroad of some African Americans, Lincoln believed he could sugarcoat the bitter pill of emancipation, reassuring conservative Northerners that a tsunami of freed slaves would not engulf their region. In addition to allaying those fears, he wanted to provide a haven for pessimistic African Americans who understandably despaired of achieving equality in the US.

In 1863, many more African Americans called at the White House, some to promote colonization and others to deal with a new matter: Black soldiers. The Emancipation Proclamation provided for the enlistment of Black men in the Union Army, reversing the administration’s earlier policy. Chapter 5 describes how some African American visitors urged the president to accept an all-Black legion, others sought permission to preach to Black troops, and still others protested against the unequal treatment of such soldiers. The best known of these visitors was Frederick Douglass, whose well-documented interview established a remarkable partnership, each man moving toward the other’s political position as they sought to promote both emancipation and military victory.

The year 1864, covered in Chapter 6, saw even more African Americans calling on the president. Lincoln summoned Frederick Douglass to help devise a plan to ensure that slaves officially freed by the Emancipation Proclamation could be liberated in fact if a Democrat should win that year’s presidential election. One of the most important interviews the president ever held with African Americans took place in March, when two visitors from New Orleans submitted a petition calling for Black voting rights. They were so persuasive that Lincoln promptly urged the governor of Louisiana to have the state’s constitutional convention enfranchise at least some African Americans.

Chapter 7 examines White House receptions where Black guests are known to have appeared. The most famous is the one held just after Lincoln’s second inauguration on March 4, 1865, when Frederick Douglass was initially denied admittance. It is widely thought to be the first time that African Americans attended such a reception, but actually there had been at least four others, beginning on January 1, 1864. While the president was glad to receive African American guests, Democrats attacked him for doing so, and his wife was less than pleased.

Chapter 8 covers 1865, an annus mirabilis for African Americans during which they achieved many breakthroughs, some of which were facilitated by Lincoln. Black soldiers and musicians participated in the inaugural parade; large numbers of African Americans attended the inauguration; a Black minister preached a sermon in the Capitol; a Black attorney argued a case before the Supreme Court; Illinois abolished most of its Black Laws; Congress established the Freedmen’s Bureau, a social welfare agency whose main mission was to assist newly freed slaves; and Congress passed a constitutional amendment outlawing slavery throughout the land. Among Lincoln’s Black guests was Martin R. Delany, the father of Black Nationalism, whose proposal for an all-Black army received the president’s endorsement. To forward that plan, Delany was appointed a major, the first African American to serve as a line officer in the Union Army.

Chapter 9 compares Frederick Douglass’s little-known 1865 eulogy for Lincoln, whom he deemed “emphatically the black man’s president,” with his well-known 1876 oration at the dedication of the Emancipation Memorial in Washington, in which he called Lincoln “preeminently the white man’s president.”

The Appendix examines evidence cited by critics of Lincoln’s racial views.

A NOTE ON THE USAGE OF HISTORICAL LANGUAGE

One piece of evidence often cited as proof of Lincoln’s racial prejudice is his occasional use of the word “nigger,” most often while paraphrasing—and mocking—opponents, foremost among them the shameless racial demagogue, Senator Stephen A. Douglas. That taboo word is frequently quoted in this book, for while it was rarely spoken by Lincoln, it was widely employed by his political adversaries and critics as well as by some of his antislavery allies. The polite, socially acceptable terms for African Americans at the time were “Negro,” “black,” and “colored person.”

As Professor Randall Kennedy of the Harvard Law School observed, “There is nothing necessarily wrong with a white person saying ‘nigger,’ just as there is nothing necessarily wrong with a black person saying it. What should matter is the context in which the word is spoken—the speaker’s aims, effects, alternatives. The word ‘nigger’ can mean many different things, depending upon, among other variables, intonation, the location of the interaction, and the relationship between the speaker and those to whom he is speaking.” Moreover, “the N-word is not self-defining. Its actual meaning in any given instance always depends on surrounding circumstances. Deriving an understanding of nigger thus always requires interpretation,” hence it cannot be automatically considered a slur. Professor Kennedy warned against “overeagerness to detect insult” and also advised that, considering “the power of ‘nigger’ to wound,” historians should be careful “to provide a context within which presentation of that term can be properly understood.” By the same token, it is “also imperative [to] permit present and future readers to see for themselves directly the full gamut of American cultural productions, the ugly as well as the beautiful, those that mirror the majestic features of American democracy and those that mirror America’s most depressing failings.” Historians should therefore present “politically sensitive nineteenth-century material” as it “appeared in historical context.”18

By quoting the ugly N-word as it appeared in historical context, I feel an affinity for another scholar, the linguist John McWhorter, professor of English and comparative literature at Columbia University, who observed in his 2021 book Nine Nasty Words: English in the Gutter, “I sense myself as pushing the envelope—and feel a need to state that in this chapter [“Why Do We Call It ‘The N-Word’?”] I will be writing the word [nigger] freely, rather than ‘the N-word.’ Am I taking advantage of the fact that I am Black, such that etiquette allows me a certain leverage? Yes indeed. I apologize for any discomfort it engenders but suspect that few readers or listeners would truly prefer that I… compose an entire chapter without naming what I am discussing, or write the N-word a hundred times. I will use it as sparingly as I can, but that will nevertheless leave a great many times when I do spell it out, love it though I shall not.”19

Unlike Professor McWhorter, I am not Black, but much like him, I feel it necessary to apologize for any discomfort that quoting the N-word causes. I suspect that few readers or listeners would truly prefer that I compose a book involving nineteenth-century American racial politics with N-word written innumerable times. I do not love quoting it, but it is impossible to understand Lincoln’s use of it without placing that usage in historical context, unpleasant as it may be to contemplate the use of a word that “mirrors America’s most depressing failings.”

On a related matter, I fear some readers may be made uncomfortable by language used by African Americans who greeted Lincoln on public occasions. That language was recorded in antislavery newspapers whose reporters evidently quoted the dialect not to belittle the speakers—though it was not uncommon for many Democratic journals, and even some Republican ones in the Midwest, to do so—but rather to accurately render what was said. Instead of paraphrasing or modernizing such language, I have reproduced it exactly as originally written in order to lend verisimilitude to those emotionally charged scenes. The dialect seems authentic, insofar as one can detect from recordings of former slaves made during the 1930s.20 Moreover, the reporters whom I cite when quoting Black dialect, such as abolitionist Charles C. Coffin, supported African American freedom.

Some of the material in this volume first appeared in recent issues of the Journal of the Abraham Lincoln Association as well as in my earlier books, among them Abraham Lincoln: A Life and The Inner World of Abraham Lincoln.






1 “Extensive Interaction with African Americans in Springfield” The Illinois Years


Lincoln’s racial egalitarianism had roots in Illinois, as Arna Bontemps, the poet/novelist and prominent member of the Harlem Renaissance, noted many decades ago. In an essay titled “Lincoln and the Negro,” Bontemps and co-author Robert Lucas asserted that “Lincoln’s faith in the ability of the Negro to respond to education and opportunity can be traced to his contact with the Negroes he had known in Illinois,” including “ordinary people who loved him as their country lawyer friend and later revered his memory as their martyred liberator.”1

SPRINGFIELD’S BLACK COMMUNITY

During Lincoln’s twenty-four years in Springfield, he lived in close proximity to members of the town’s small Black population.2 In 1860, about nine percent of the Illinois capital’s African Americans resided within three blocks of the Lincolns’ home at Eighth and Jackson Streets, including families who dwelt only a few houses away.3

Far from passively acquiescing to that era’s racial order, Springfield’s African Americans showed pluck and courage by actively trying to undermine slavery and improve the lot of their fellow Black Illinoisans. William H. K. Donnegan, Lincoln’s bootmaker, helped runaway slaves to freedom via the Underground Railroad, as did Lincoln’s near-neighbor Jameson Jenkins, a carter/drayman who lived half a block away with his wife, children, and mother-in-law, Jane Pellum, a laundress who worked for the Lincolns. Those men ran a grave risk in a city where antislavery sentiment was far from popular. In 1850, Jenkins boldly facilitated the northward flight of seven runaway slaves, creating an uproar in the local press.4 That same year in Springfield, James Blanks and half a dozen other people of color who were “desirous of educating their children” denominated themselves trustees of “the Colored School” and publicly announced a fundraising effort. Two years later, Blanks joined with nineteen other Black men in signing a resolution calling for the establishment of a school for African American children. “We must speak in bold terms,” they proclaimed. As “a portion of the colored population,” they felt “a deep, very deep interest, in our schools, and think it the only sure way to redeem ourselves from the bondage we are now in.” They pledged to “do everything that is in our power to educate our children by our exertions” without asking “aid from the people of the State.”5 In 1854, White public schools were first introduced in Springfield; four years later, a modest equivalent for Black children was established.

It is not known how personally acquainted Lincoln was with his Black neighbors, but when he departed Springfield for Washington in 1861, he and his luggage were taken to the train depot by his neighbor, Jameson Jenkins, an Underground Railroad conductor. That luggage had been packed with the help of Mariah Vance, a Black woman who worked off and on as a day servant in the Lincoln home during the 1850s.6 Her purported memoirs are suspect, but other sources indicate that she regarded Lincoln highly.7 She called him “one of the best men in the world,” whom she knew “when he was a struggling young lawyer.” His “treatment of her was always kind.”8 Born Maria Bartlett ca. 1819 near Springfield, she married Henry Vance in 1842 and had several children with him. In 1850, she began working in the Lincoln home as a cook. Many years later, Robert Todd Lincoln made a special effort to visit her in Danville, where she had moved after the Civil War, and recollected how he had enjoyed her cooking.9

Another African American woman, Ruth Stanton (née Burns) worked in the Lincolns’ home ca. 1849–1851. As she told a journalist, her principal employer, Adeline Bradford, apparently took pity on the Lincolns, “who were poor then,” and “sent me over to help Mrs. Lincoln every Saturday, for she had no servant and had to do her own housework. Then Mrs. Bradford sent me to live with the Lincolns.” There she “scrubbed the floors and waited on the table,” helped “to clean the dishes and do the washing,” and tended to the children, young Robert and Eddy. An adolescent when employed at the Lincolns’ home, she recalled that “Mr. Lincoln was a very good and kind man.”10

Other African American servants also had positive memories of Lincoln. Among them was Henry Brown, a tall man who resembled Lincoln.11 Born in North Carolina in 1823, he worked for the Lincolns from 1855 to 1861, performing a variety of jobs: calcimining and repairing the house’s fences, gates, and outbuildings; tending the family’s horse; digging in the garden; delivering messages; and serving as a valet for Lincoln and a chauffeur for his wife. Brown’s spouse Mary was also employed by the Lincolns, milking their cow as well as helping with laundry, cleaning, and other household chores. Reportedly she “was a bright, intelligent, kindly woman” who “had been educated in a white school” in Paris, Illinois, “but after some color-line remonstrance” was “ousted from the school,” thus ending her formal education. A physician who once treated her recalled that she said, “Mrs. Lincoln has been to my house a hundred times or more, and often talked with me perhaps an hour or more at a time.”12

Henry Brown was a minister in the African Methodist Episcopal Church; he established a branch of that denomination in Quincy in 1858 while continuing to live in Springfield. Originally a Quaker, having resided as an adolescent with a Quaker family in Indiana, he became “famous for years as the Methodist preacher of the old school” and was known as Deacon Brown.13 Like many other Quakers, he strove to undermine slavery and to protest against the second-class citizenship to which free African Americans were consigned. In 1853, while living in Edgar County, he served as a delegate to the first Convention of the Colored Citizens of the State of Illinois, held in Chicago. It adopted an address to the people of the Prairie State which asserted: “We have too long remained supinely inactive, and apparently indifferent to our oppressed and degraded condition…. But we have now resolved to come forward; and, like men, speak and act for ourselves.” The delegates protested against the new Black Law which forbade African Americans to settle in the state: “Can such a monstrous injustice as this, be the will of the People? If so, would it not be more honorable in the Legislature of Illinois, to appoint a day upon which, every colored man, woman and child should be murdered and thus set the matters to rest?”14

(Another Black friend of Lincoln, the barber Spencer Donnegan, also served as a delegate to that convention. Like Brown, he was a minister in the African Methodist Episcopal Church; he founded a congregation in Springfield in 1843 and another in the nearby town of Lincoln in 1866.)

In both Springfield and Quincy, Deacon Brown aided passengers traveling to freedom along the Underground Railroad.15 According to Brown’s granddaughter, he “loved Mr. Lincoln, and the Lincolns felt the same way about him.” When Brown “decided to combine his duties [at the Lincoln home] with the ministry, Mr. Lincoln was proud of him and encouraged him.”16 After Lincoln won the 1860 election, Brown asked if he could accompany him to Washington and continue serving as his body man. Lincoln at first agreed but eventually changed his mind. When the disappointed Brown asked why, Lincoln allegedly said, “Well, Brown, if the people of Washington were to see us together around the White House they would not know which one was the president.”17 At Lincoln’s funeral, Brown led the martyred president’s horse in the procession to Oak Ridge Cemetery.

WILLIAM FLORVILLE, LINCOLN’S BEST BLACK FRIEND

The Black Springfielder closest to Lincoln was William Florville (also spelled Fleurville). Affectionately referred to as “Billy the Barber,” he was born free in Haiti around 1806; during a revolution there fifteen years later, his godmother took him to Baltimore and enrolled him in a Catholic school. When she died, a court apprenticed him to a barber. Having learned that trade and grown tired of Maryland’s cold winters, he moved to New Orleans, where many Haitian refugees lived and he could speak his native French. Finding the social climate uncomfortable, he resettled in St. Louis. But as a freeborn African American, he lacked free papers and was thus vulnerable to kidnappers. So he crossed the Mississippi River to the free state of Illinois and headed for Springfield. In 1831, as he was making his way thither, he found himself near the village of New Salem. There he encountered Lincoln, who introduced him to friends and helped him find temporary work. Thus was planted the seed of what would become a friendship that transcended racial, class, and social boundaries.

After a brief stay in New Salem, Florville continued on to Springfield, where the following year he established a barbershop. By 1837, when Lincoln moved to that town, the industrious, business-savvy, gregarious barber had prospered. In 1849, a Springfield paper deemed him “one of the politest men in our city.”18 His shop became a popular social center where Lincoln not only received shaves and haircuts but also spent much time swapping stories with the humorous Florville and other customers. The barber won popular favor with his musical talent as well as his tonsorial skill; in the evenings he entertained townsfolk by playing one of the several instruments he had mastered. His granddaughter heard her father say that “Lincoln would come to the shop in the evening, to sprawl out in a chair and listen” to Florville play the violin.19

In time, Florville expanded his business horizons by setting up a dry cleaning establishment and profitably speculating in real estate. A generous philanthropist, he contributed liberally to local charities and churches, both Catholic and Protestant. When he died in 1868, his widow and five children inherited a substantial estate.20 Lincoln helped him along, serving as his attorney in at least two cases.21 When Florville acquired property in nearby Bloomington, Lincoln arranged to have the title to that land secured and the taxes paid.

Florville was more than Lincoln’s barber and client; he was also a true friend. Nothing better illustrates the nature and depth of that friendship than a long letter he wrote to Lincoln in 1863, prompted by the warm wishes that the president had asked his friends Anson Henry and Illinois Governor Richard Yates to convey. Florville began by thanking Lincoln for those indirect verbal greetings, which made him think that it “might not be improper for one so humble in life and occupation, to address the President of the United States.” Further justifying his decision to write was “our long acquaintance.” He speculated that Lincoln might read his missive “with pleasure as a communication from Billy the Barber,” for the president had shown that he esteemed “the poor, and downtrodden of the Nation” as highly as he did “those more favored in Color, position, and Franchise rights.” For such egalitarianism, “I and my people feel greatful [sic] to you.” He voiced special gratitude for the Emancipation Proclamation as well as the hope that it would be extended to cover the entire country, not just the Confederacy. “May God grant you health, and Strength, and wisdom, so to do, and so to act, as Shall redown[d] to his Glory, and the Good, peace, prosperity, Freedom, and hap[p]iness of this Nation.” He hoped Lincoln would be reelected and prosecute the war to a successful conclusion, after which “the oppressed will Shout the name of their deliverer, and Generations to Come will rise up and call you blessed.”

On a more personal note, Florville alluded to Lincoln’s recent attack of varioloid, a mild form of smallpox: “I was Sorry to hear of your illness, and was glad when I learned that your health was improving. I hope by this time, you are able, or soon will be, to attend to your arduous buisness [sic].” He also offered belated condolences for “the death of your Son Willy. I thought him a Smart boy for his age, So Considerate, So Manly: his Knowledge and good Sence [sic], far exceeding most boys more advanced in years.” He asked Lincoln to tell his younger son, Tad, “that his (and Willy[’]s) Dog is alive and Kicking [and] doing well.” Of further personal interest to Lincoln, Florville reported that “Your Residence here is Kept in good order” because the couple who rented it “has no children to ruin things.” As for himself, “My family are all well. My son William is Married and in buisness [sic] for himself. I am occupying the Same place in Which I was at the time you left.” Somewhat ominously, he added, “I should like verry [sic] much, to See you, and your family, but the priviledge [sic] of enjoying an interview, may not soon, if ever come.” In closing, he asked Lincoln to “please accept my best wishes for yourself and family, and my daily desires for yourself that your Administration may be prosperous, Wise, and productive of Good results to this nation, and may the time Soon come, When the Rebellion Shall be put down; and Traitors, receive their just recompence of reward, and the People be at Peace, is the Sincere feelings of your obt [obedient] Servant William Florville the Barber.”22

The warm personal tone, the domestic details, and the cordial sentiments expressed indicate that Florville and Lincoln were truly friends, not simply acquaintances or business associates. At Lincoln’s funeral, Florville served as an honorary pallbearer. Decades later, Jacob C. Thompson, an authority on Springfield history, said, “There were just two men in Springfield who really knew Lincoln in those old days,” William Herndon (his law partner for sixteen years) and William Florville.23


OTHER BLACK SPRINGFIELDERS

Lincoln’s view of African Americans was shaped not only by those with whom he interacted in Springfield but also those whom he saw on the street and those about whom he read, like Florville’s chief business competitor, the barber Samuel S. Ball. A leading supporter of African colonization (encouraging Black Americans to escape the prejudice they experienced in the US by resettling in Liberia), Ball probably attracted the attention of Lincoln, who shared his interest in the colonization movement. Though no evidence indicates that the two men interacted, Lincoln doubtless followed Ball’s activities in the local press. In 1847, the Illinois Colored Baptist Association resolved to send “Elder S. S. Ball to Liberia, as an Agent to inquire into the condition of the aforesaid country, and to report to this Association on his return.” The following year, a Springfield newspaper reported that “S. S. Ball, a very respectable colored man, late of this city, left Baltimore in a sch[oone]r on the 11th April for Liberia, for the purposes of examining that country as an asylum for free blacks.”24 Soon after returning home that summer, Ball published an impressive thirteen-page report, “Liberia, The Condition and Prospects of that Republic; Made from Actual Observation.” In 1851, he told audiences in Springfield and St. Louis, “I am the warm friend and enthusiastic admirer of Liberia,” which he depicted as “the brightest spot on this earth to the colored man. Liberia not only protects the colored man in the enjoyment of equal rights, but… its institutions fostered merit, developed the moral and intellectual faculties of its citizens, and produced great men.”25 In that same year, Ball drafted legislation authorizing the Illinois General Assembly to underwrite the expenses of any free African Americans who wished to resettle in Liberia. Though it enjoyed the support of Springfield’s Illinois State Journal (a newspaper closely associated with Lincoln), the bill went nowhere in the legislature.26

An obituarist described Ball as “a man of good native talent, well cultivated for one in his circumstances” and “one of the most active, intelligent and useful colored Ministers in the State,” best known for “his visit to the Colony of Liberia, in 1848, as an exploring agent of the Colored Baptist Association of Illinois.” He “was affable in his deportment, respectable in scholarship, kind and affectionate in his social relations, [and] esteemed by all.”27 As president, Lincoln may have been willing to support colonization in part because of Ball’s favorable report.

In all likelihood, Lincoln also followed news accounts indicating that many Black Springfielders did not share Ball’s enthusiasm for colonization. In 1858, the following resolutions were adopted at a meeting of African Americans held to protest the Illinois Colonization Society’s support for a bill like the one submitted by Ball seven years earlier:


We have been unable to ascertain that any intelligent man of color either desires to remove to Africa, or requires aid for such an enterprise. We have no desire to exchange the broad prairies, fertile soil, healthful climate and Christian civilization of Illinois, for the dangerous navigation of the wide ocean, the tangled forests, savage beasts, heathen people and mismatic shores of Africa. We… believe that the operations of the Colonization Society are calculated to excite prejudices against us, and to impel ignorant or ill disposed persons to take measures for our expulsion from the land of our nativity, from our country and from our homes. We… most earnestly protest against the recent decision of the Supreme Court of the United States in the case of Dred Scott, which misrepresents, the great charter of American liberty, the Declaration of Independence and the spirit of the American people…. We take that Declaration as the Gospel of freedom; we believe in its great truth, “that all men are created equal, endowed with certain inalienable rights, among which are life, liberty and the pursuit of happiness.”… We claim our rights… under this Declaration of the Old Thirteen. We also claim the right of citizenship in this, the country of our birth. We were born here, and here we desire to die and to be buried. We are not African. The best blood of Virginia, Maryland, Kentucky and other States, where our brethren are still held in bondage by their brothers, flows in our veins. We are not, therefore, aliens, either in blood or in race, to the people of the country in which we were born. Why then should we be disfranchised and denied the rights of citizenship in the north, and those of human nature itself in the south?28



Lincoln interacted with many other Black Springfielders about whom little is known, including servants in his home (in addition to Ruth Stanton, Mariah Vance, and Jane Pellum), neighbors (in addition to the families of Jameson Jenkins and James Blanks), and passersby whom he encountered as he walked through his racially and ethnically diverse neighborhood en route to and from his office.

At that office Lincoln received Black callers, including the Rev. Mr. William J. Davis, pastor of the African Methodist Episcopal Church in Bloomington. He was described in the press as a native Kentuckian, “black as the ace of spades,” from whom “religious zeal runs out at every pore.” In 1863, Davis described his earlier interaction with the president: “I have been personally acquainted with him for eight years; I have heard him plead law in the bar in this city [Bloomington] often, and during the campaign of 1858 Stephen A. Douglas for United States Senator, I heard him speak to thousands of people. Mr. Lincoln is naturally a kind-hearted, sociable kind of man. In Feb. 1859, I was in Springfield, Ill. I called on him at his office and had quite a sociable talk with him. He asked me if I was ever a slave. I told him in reply that I had been one and was sold twice. ‘Ah!’ said he, ‘Mr. Davis, this government is destined to fall under such a wretched system as American slavery.’ ”29

Lincoln also observed the activities of his African American fellow townspeople through the columns of Springfield newspapers, which he read closely. The local press reported that Black residents took an interest in public affairs related to their race. Aside from protesting against colonization, they celebrated Haiti’s Independence Day and Emancipation Day, the anniversary of Britain’s abolition of slavery in its West Indies colonies.

LINCOLN AND THE ILLINOIS BLACK LAWS

As noted above, two of Lincoln’s Black friends (Henry Brown and Spencer Donnegan) attended the 1853 Chicago African American Convention called to protest against the Black Law passed that year by the Illinois General Assembly which forbade African Americans to settle in the state. Whether Brown and Donnegan discussed that legislation with Lincoln is unknown, but at least one attendee, H. Ford Douglas of Chicago, did so. In 1858, that twenty-seven-year-old Black abolitionist asked Lincoln to sign a petition calling for the repeal of Illinois’ “testimony law” forbidding African Americans to testify against White people in court.30 It was one of the Prairie State’s most notorious Black Laws, which severely limited the rights of Black Illinoisans.

African Americans had been petitioning the state legislature to repeal the Black Laws since 1822, efforts which continued up to 1865 when those statutes were finally stricken from the books (except the ban on interracial marriage). Lincoln had nothing to say about those, but in 1839 he gave a hint of his feelings on the subject when a Democrat in the General Assembly introduced a resolution stating that “it is not only unconstitutional, but improper, inexpedient and unwise ‘to repeal all laws existing on the statutes of the State, which graduate the right of the citizens by the color of the skin.’ ” Lincoln voted with the 44-36 majority to table and thus kill it.31 Twenty-two years later, in his first inaugural address, he called for legislation outlawing prohibitions against Black resettlement in any state: “might it not be well… to provide by law for the enforcement of that clause in the Constitution which guaranties [sic] that ‘The citizens of each State shall be entitled to all previleges [sic] and immunities of citizens in the several States?’ ”32

On July 4, 1860, H. Ford Douglas told an audience in Framingham, Massachusetts, that two years earlier, “I went to prominent Republicans, and among others, to Abraham Lincoln and Lyman Trumbull, and neither of them dared to sign that petition, to give me the right to testify in a court of justice! In the state of Illinois, they tax the colored people for every conceivable purpose. They tax the Negro’s property to support schools for the education of the white man’s children, but the colored people are not permitted to enjoy any of the benefits resulting from that taxation. We are compelled to impose upon ourselves additional taxes in order to educate our children. The state lays its iron hand upon the Negro, holds him down, and puts the other hand into his pocket and steals his hard earnings, to educate the children of white men; and if we sent our children to school, Abraham Lincoln would kick them out, in the name of Republicanism and antislavery!” He also mistakenly accused Lincoln of supporting the very policy that he strenuously and repeatedly opposed: “I do not believe in the antislavery of Abraham Lincoln, because he is on the side of this slave power of which I am speaking, that has possession of the federal government. What does he propose to do? Simply to let the people and the territories regulate their domestic institutions in their own way.”33 Soon thereafter, Douglas called Lincoln “worthless lumber” and told an Ohio audience, “I went to Abraham Lincoln, personally, with a petition for the repeal of this infamous [testimony] law, and asked him to sign it, and he refused to do it. I went also to Lyman Trumbull, with the same petition, and he also refused; and he told me, if I did not like the laws of Illinois, I had better leave the State!”34

Unlike Lincoln, Trumbull insisted in 1858 that the Republican party was “the white man’s party. [Great applause.] We are for free white men, and for making white labor respectable and honorable, which it never can be when negro slave labor is brought into competition with it. [Great applause.] We wish to settle the Territories with free white men, and we are willing that this negro race should go anywhere that it can to better its condition, wishing them God speed wherever they go. We believe it is better for us that they should not be among us. I believe it will be better for them to go elsewhere.” When asked “where?” he replied: Central America.35

A former slave, Douglas lectured widely throughout the country, lauding John Brown and championing the emigrationist movement, some of whose members encouraged African Americans to remove to Central America. In 1861, he abandoned his earlier focus on Africa, joined James Redpath’s Haitian Emigration Bureau, and helped persuade Black Americans to immigrate to that Caribbean nation.

Lincoln left no record of his encounter with Douglas, nor did he speak or write about the Black Code of Illinois. When the provision of the 1848 constitution empowering the legislature to forbid Black immigration into the state was submitted for ratification, Lincoln did not cast a vote, for he was in Washington at the time serving in the House of Representatives. It seems likely that he would have opposed it, for many of his friends and fellow Whig leaders did so. They formed a distinct minority in Springfield, where the ban on Black settlement won the approval of 774 voters and the disapproval of only 148. (Statewide it was approved by a vote of 50,261 to 21,297.) Among that small minority in the Illinois capital was Stephen T. Logan, Lincoln’s second law partner and strong political ally. As a delegate to the 1847 Illinois constitutional convention, Logan had opposed that provision, as did another of Lincoln’s friends, Stephen A. Hurlbut. The husband of Mary Lincoln’s sister Elizabeth, Ninian W. Edwards, also a delegate, tried to defeat the measure with a poison pill amendment. He had generously supported Lincoln when he was a fledgling lawyer and acted as Lincoln’s political ally in the Illinois legislature. Other friends and associates of Lincoln who voted against Black exclusion were Ninian Edwards’s brother Benjamin, a lawyer who studied with Stephen T. Logan and became a partner with John Todd Stuart, Lincoln’s first partner; Anson G. Henry, a close friend and political ally of Lincoln as well as his family doctor; and Simeon Francis, editor of Springfield’s Whig newspaper, which published many of Lincoln’s anonymous political writings. (Francis’s wife, Eliza, helped facilitate the reconciliation and eventual marriage of Lincoln to Mary Todd.) Lincoln’s friends who opposed Black exclusion also included James C. Conkling, the Whig mayor of Springfield and husband of Mary Lincoln’s good friend Mercy Levering; James H. Matheny, one of the two groomsmen at Lincoln’s wedding; and Albert Taylor Bledsoe, editorial writer for the Springfield Whig paper and a fellow party leader.36 Many of these friends of Lincoln were members of the Colonization Society; in fact, sixty percent of that organization’s Springfield chapter voted against the exclusion measure, indicating that they were not opposed to living in a biracial society.37

In 1845, when Anson S. Miller, an Illinois state legislator, vehemently denounced the state’s original Black Code (especially the “testimony law”), Lincoln listened closely to his remarks. Miller recalled that Lincoln was “his most attentive auditor, leaning throughout the speech against a pillar in the [House of Representatives] chamber” and was “one of the first [auditors], and the warmest, to greet him when the speech was over.”38

In 1857, Senator Stephen A. Douglas denounced Lincoln for implicitly criticizing the Black Code’s provision that African Americans could not marry White people. According to the senator, whoever shared Lincoln’s view that Black Americans were included in the Declaration of Independence’s assertion that “all men are created equal” must necessarily “license him [the Black man] to marry a white woman.”39 Other Illinois Democrats expressed vehement opposition “to placing negroes on an equality with white men, by allowing them to vote and hold office, and serve on juries, and testify in the courts against white men, and marry white women, as advocated by those who claim that the Declaration of Independence asserts that white men and negroes were created equal by the Almighty.”40 A Democratic congressman who had represented Springfield said of Black people, “We wanted no intermixture of white blood with theirs.”41

Lincoln had eloquently argued that indeed the signers of the Declaration meant to include African Americans when they asserted that “all men” were created equal. In 1858, he said of the signatories, “In their enlightened belief, nothing stamped with the divine image and likeness was sent into the world to be trodden on, and degraded, and imbruted by its fellows. They grasped not only the whole race of man then living, but they reached forward and seized upon the farthest posterity. They erected a beacon to guide their children and their children’s children, and the countless myriads who should inhabit the earth in other ages. Wise statesmen as they were, they knew the tendency of prosperity to breed tyrants, and so they established these great self-evident truths, that when in the distant future some man, some faction, some interest, should set up the doctrine that none but rich men, or none but white men, were entitled to life, liberty and the pursuit of happiness, their posterity might look up again to the Declaration of Independence and take courage to renew the battle which their fathers began—so that truth, and justice, and mercy, and all the human and Christian virtues might not be extinguished from the land; so that no man would hereafter dare to limit and circumscribe the great principles on which the temple of liberty was being built.”42 Three years later, when Lincoln delivered a similarly impassioned paean to the Declaration, a Democratic journalist wrote disapprovingly that the Illinoisan had “declared he would ‘rather be assassinated on the spot’ than abandon his idea of negro independence and negro equality.” As David S. Reynolds observed, what that reporter “recognized was the radical egalitarianism—a belief in the equality of all people, regardless of race or nationality—that Lincoln’s reading of the Declaration implied.”43

In response to Senator Douglas’s taunts, Lincoln in 1858 suggested that, since the Black Laws had been passed by the Illinois General Assembly, Douglas should run for a seat in that body rather than the US Senate. Further, Lincoln declared, “I protest, now and forever, against that counterfeit logic which presumes that because I do not want a negro woman for a slave, I do necessarily want her for a wife. My understanding is that I need not have her for either, but as God made us separate, we can leave one another alone and do one another much good thereby. There are white men enough to marry all the white women, and enough black men to marry all the black women, and in God’s name let them be so married.” Senator Douglas “regales us with the terrible enormities that take place by the mixture of races; that the inferior race bears the superior down.” Lincoln told the Senator, “if we do not let them get together in the territories they won’t mix there.” He continued: “let us discard all this quibbling about this man and the other man—this race and that race and the other race being inferior, and therefore they must be placed in an inferior position…. Let us discard all these things, and unite as one people throughout this land, until we shall once more stand up declaring that all men are created equal.”44

In 1859, when asked about his support for Illinois’ ban on interracial marriage, Lincoln responded, “The law means nothing. I shall never marry a negress, but I have no objection to any one else doing so. If a white man wants to marry a negro woman, let him do it—if the negro woman can stand it.”45

Though disappointed by Lincoln’s refusal to sign the petition advocating repeal of the “testimony law,” H. Ford Douglas made speeches on his behalf in 1858, prompting the Democratic Illinois State Register of Springfield to observe: “he spoke in one of the Ottawa churches, much to the edification and delight of his abolition republican brethren, who seem in duty bound… to swallow every greasy nigger that comes along. They certainly need all the assistance, be it white or black, to bolster up the rapidly declining prospects of Abraham—hence it is perfectly right that he should take a nigger to his bosom.”46 The Ottawa Little Giant remarked: “We heard a prominent Republican tell another the other day that Mr. Schlosser should have been kicked out of the court house for presuming that a nigger was going to speak at the Free church, although the object of his address was to help Lincoln. Every fool knows that his speech would do Lincoln more harm than good.”47 In August 1858, Stephen A. Douglas evidently alluded to H. Ford Douglas when he remarked during a debate with Lincoln: “I am told also that one of Fred Douglas’ kinsmen, another rich black negro, is now traveling this part of the State making speeches for his friend Mr. Lincoln, who is the champion of the black man’s party.”48 (Presumably he meant H. Ford Douglas, who was unrelated to Frederick Douglass.)

In 1860, H. Ford Douglas seemed to repent his earlier support for Lincoln. At Framingham, Massachusetts, he asked rhetorically, “if any man can tell me the difference between the anti-slavery of Abraham Lincoln, and the anti-slavery of the old Whig party, or the anti-slavery of Henry Clay,” who “was just as odious to the anti-slavery cause and anti-slavery men as ever was John C. Calhoun.” Douglas alleged that in 1849, Lincoln “introduced, on his own responsibility, a fugitive slave law for the District of Columbia.”49

Rising from the audience in Framingham, Senator Henry Wilson—a dedicated champion of Black freedom and civil rights—challenged Douglas’s version of Lincoln’s proposed 1849 statute: “Mr. Lincoln was born in Kentucky, a slave State, and went to Illinois, and living in a portion of that State which did not entertain the sentiments of this State [Massachusetts], and with a constituency living under what he called the Black Laws of Illinois, he went into Congress and proposed to make the District of Columbia free. I think that he should be honored for that and not misrepresented.” Passionately, Senator Wilson urged the assembled opponents of slavery to be more charitable: “When you undertake to arraign men who, in the halls of Congress, before dominating majorities, in a city where public sentiment is against them, where the sneer and the profane word meet them at every step in the streets, are true to the right, I ask you when you deal with such men that you shall do them justice, and that if they have done good deeds and brave deeds, that you say it.” He declared that Lincoln was “ahead of the Anti-Slavery sentiment of the Republican party, rather than behind it.”50

As the presidential campaign wore on, H. Ford Douglas came to regard Lincoln more favorably, reasoning that even if there may be little difference between the Republican standard bearer and Stephen A. Douglas, “there is in the Republican party a strong anti-slavery element. And though the party will do nothing for freedom now, that element will increase; and before long—I trust—springing up from the ruins of the Republican party will come a great anti-slavery party.” So he somewhat grudgingly endorsed Lincoln: “I love everything the South hates, and since they have evidenced their dislike of Mr. Lincoln, I am bound to love you Republicans with all your faults,” he told a Boston audience shortly before election day.51 In doing so, he reflected the thinking of William Lloyd Garrison, who in 1859 had told his fellow abolitionists that the “Republican party has certainly been consistent in its efforts to prevent the extension of slavery; it has spent a vast amount of money for the purpose of enlightening the public sentiment so as to save Kansas and Nebraska, and the vast territories of the West, from the encroachments of the slave power. Let the party have the credit of it.”52

During the Civil War, H. Ford Douglas joined the army, becoming a captain and one of the few Black officers to lead men into combat. In January 1863, he praised Lincoln for issuing the Emancipation Proclamation: “Abraham Lincoln has crossed the Rubicon and by one simple act of Justice links his memory with immortality.”53 Douglas died of malaria in November 1865.54

ATTORNEY LINCOLN’S DEALINGS WITH AFRICAN AMERICAN CLIENTS

As a lawyer, Lincoln represented some African Americans, including Mary Shelby, who in 1841 sued for divorce, and fifteen years later appealed for help to save her twenty-five-year-old son John, then languishing in a New Orleans jail. That incautious young man, a crew member aboard a steamship that docked at the Crescent City, had failed to take free papers with him when he went ashore. Soon after he debarked, police arrested him for violating the Louisiana law requiring African Americans to carry such documents. He was tried and given a fine that he could not pay. Faced with the prospect of being sold into slavery in order to raise the necessary money, he managed somehow to alert his mother, who turned to the same attorney she had hired years earlier when seeking a divorce. “Very much moved,” Lincoln and his partner William Herndon visited the governor of Illinois, “who, after patient and thorough examination of the law, responded that he had no right or power to interfere,” as Herndon recalled. After appealing in vain to the governor of Louisiana, the two law partners had a second interview with the Illinois governor which proved equally futile. Lincoln then erupted in anger: “By the Almighty! I’ll have that negro back soon, or I’ll have a twenty years’ excitement in Illinois until the Governor does have a legal and constitutional right to do something in the premises!”55

Finally, Lincoln and Herndon resolved to hire a New Orleans attorney. “Lincoln drew up a subscription-list, which I circulated, collecting funds enough to purchase the young man’s liberty,” Herndon remembered. With the money thus raised—supplemented with Lincoln’s own personal funds—they retained Benjamin F. Jonas (son of Lincoln’s good friend and political ally, Abraham Jonas of Quincy), who secured Shelby’s freedom. His mother was “overjoyed” to have her son back.56

The rescue of young Shelby from prison occurred near the end of Lincoln’s twenty-four-year law career; at its beginning, he may well have performed a similar service. While a member of the Illinois General Assembly, which met in Vandalia (the state capital from 1819 to 1839), he evidently helped a young Black indentured servant/slave escape from her indentures. The details are lost to history, but in an obituary of Mary Turner (1822–1897), wife of the Rev. Mr. John Turner, there appears the following statement: “She was an indentured slave under the Illinois laws, until she was eighteen years old; but was freed much sooner through the instrumentality of Abraham Lincoln, then a struggling young lawyer, boarding at her mother’s house in Vandalia, Ill.”57 Marriage records indicate that Mrs. Turner’s maiden name was Mary Duncan; her mother apparently worked as a slave at a Vandalia boardinghouse owned by Matthew Duncan, brother of Governor Joseph Duncan (1834–1838). Lincoln may have lodged there during at least some sessions of the legislature. It is not clear just what steps had to be taken in order to liberate Mary Duncan from her indenture before 1840, when it was scheduled to expire. She would have needed a “free paper” similar to one issued in 1833 by a Kentucky official and registered six years later by the county clerk in Vandalia. It stated: “Dinah Free Paper: Let the bearer Dinah pass and repass to Vandalia in the State of Illinois without molestation.” The clerk noted “that this foregoing free paper, belonging to Dinah (color[ed]) has been this day truly recorded in my said office.”58 Alas, the records of the county clerk for the 1830s, which may have contained such a document for Mary Duncan, are incomplete.

Lincoln officially began his law career in September 1836 when the Illinois Supreme Court licensed him to practice throughout the state. He may well have informed Mary Duncan about a recent Illinois Supreme Court decision that was relevant to her situation. Meeting in Vandalia from December 1836 to March 1837, when the legislature was in session (with Lincoln in attendance), the justices ruled in the case of Boon v. Juliet that indentures made before Illinois became a state in 1818 were constitutional, but that any children born thereafter to an indentured servant/slave could not be held to indentures. Therefore, Mary may have been eligible to be freed before reaching the age of eighteen.59

In 1841, Lincoln helped another young African American servant/slave, Nance Legins-Costley, solidify her freedom.60 In the case of Bailey v. Cromwell, Lincoln represented David Bailey, who in 1836 had bought Nance from Nathan Cromwell with a promissory note containing the proviso that Cromwell would submit proof that she was in fact a slave and could therefore be legally sold. When no such proof was forthcoming, Bailey refused to honor the note. In the meantime, Cromwell had died, and the administrators of his estate sued for payment, prompting Bailey to hire Lincoln, who maintained that Cromwell had not fulfilled his contractual obligation to submit evidence proving that Nance was actually a slave. In 1839, a trial court ruled in favor of Cromwell, but two years later the Illinois Supreme Court overturned that verdict. In arguing for his client, Lincoln cited precedents that in turn cited the Northwest Ordinance of 1787 and Illinois’ state constitution of 1818, both of which banned slavery and “involuntary servitude” in the Prairie State. Referring to earlier relevant cases, the court ruled against Cromwell: “With us the presumption is in favor of liberty,” and therefore “the sale of a free person is illegal, and that being the consideration for the note, that is illegal also, and consequently, no recovery can be had upon the note.”61 As a result, not only did David Bailey win his case but Nance gained her freedom de jure, which she had been exercising de facto for several months as the “property” of Bailey, an abolitionist. She continued living free in the town of Pekin with her husband, Benjamin, and their children.

Six years later, Lincoln apparently did a volte-face, representing a slaveholder, Robert Matson, who employed his legal services to help recover a slave family being sheltered by abolitionists.62 Matson, a Kentucky resident, cultivated a farm near Charleston, Illinois, with slaves he temporarily imported from the Bluegrass State. That practice was legal in Illinois, where slaveholders were forbidden to domicile bondsmen but could import them seasonally. Anthony Bryant, a free Black man, was married to Jane, with whom he had four children. In 1847, Matson seemed ready to sell Jane and the children, who had settled in Illinois more than two years earlier. To prevent Matson from making that sale, Anthony Bryant enlisted the help of an abolitionist, Gideon Ashmore, who in turn obtained the assistance of a fellow abolitionist, Dr. Hiram Rutherford; the former provided Bryant’s wife and children asylum at his home. After Matson failed to persuade Jane to return, he sued Ashmore and Rutherford for damages and filed a complaint against them for violating the state’s Black Laws; the court ruled that Jane and her offspring should be committed to the custody of the local sheriff, who jailed them. The abolitionists then filed for a writ of habeas corpus on behalf of the Bryants.

Such was the situation when Lincoln, then traveling the legal circuit, arrived in Charleston. Usher Linder and Thomas Marshall, attorneys for Matson, sought his help in suing Rutherford and Ashmore. Soon thereafter, Rutherford also solicited his assistance, which Lincoln said he could not provide because he had already been approached by somebody acting “in Matson’s interest,” presumably his counsel. At that time, lawyers felt obliged to abide by the so-called “cab-rank” rule: attorneys must accept the first client who hails them. But, Lincoln added, he would try to get Usher and Marshall to release him. Those two agreed, but when Lincoln told Rutherford he was now free to represent him, the hotheaded abolitionist angrily replied that he had already retained another attorney. If Rutherford had been less petulant, Lincoln would have defended him. But he defended Matson instead.

However reluctant Lincoln may have been to act on Matson’s behalf, he forcefully if unsuccessfully argued his client’s case. Jane Bryant had been living in Illinois for over two years and was clearly not just a seasonal worker, so the court ruled against Matson. Though it failed to decide that any slave whose foot trod Illinois soil was automatically freed, it did decide that slaveholders’ claims—that they were merely taking their slaves through the state or using them as seasonal workers—must be bona fide. Matson dropped his case against Ashmore and Rutherford, who then helped the Bryant family immigrate to Liberia.

Historians have deemed Lincoln’s participation in the Matson case “one of the greatest enigmas of his career,” the “most profound mystery ever to confound Lincoln specialists,” and “one of the strangest episodes in Lincoln’s career at the bar.”63 Lincoln was following not only the cab-rank rule but also the widely honored advice of Judge George Sharswood, a celebrated nineteenth-century American commentator on legal ethics, who urged attorneys “not to pass moral judgments on potential clients, but to rely on the legal process itself to determine the merits of the claim.” Sharswood held that a lawyer “is not morally responsible for the act of the party in maintaining an unjust cause, nor for the error of the court, if they fall into error, in deciding in his favor.” An attorney “who refuses his professional assistance because in his judgment the case is unjust and indefensible, usurps the function of both judge and jury.”64

Of course, Lincoln could have refused to assist Usher and Marshall, and he may well have been tempted to do so, but those men were personal friends and political allies whom he probably did not wish to disappoint.65 (The affable Lincoln once quipped that he was glad he had not been born female because he couldn’t say “no.”66) Marshall, a nephew of Henry Clay, may have had a special claim on the respect of Lincoln, who called Clay his “beau ideal of a statesman.”67 An attorney representing the Bryants said that “Lincoln took a hand in the case” at the “earnest solicitation” of Marshall.68

According to a close friend, Lincoln avoided runaway slave cases “because of his unwillingness to be a party to a violation of the Fugitive Slave Law,” a statute which he wanted modified so that African Americans accused of being runaway slaves would enjoy, as he put it in his first inaugural address, “all the safeguards of liberty known in civilized and humane jurisprudence” to ensure “that a free man be not, in any case, surrendered as a slave.” Apropos of reforms to be made to the Fugitive Slave Act, he added, “might it not be well, at the same time, to provide by law for the enforcement of that clause in the Constitution which guarranties [sic] that ‘The citizens of each State shall be entitled to all previleges [sic] and immunities of citizens in the several States?’ ”69 As historian Kate Masur observed, this appeal indicated unmistakably that from “the outset of his presidency, Lincoln hoped that Congress would take action to affirm African-American citizenship.”70 (Though Lincoln did not represent fugitive slaves in court, he did defend some abolitionists accused of aiding runaway bondsmen.71)



This record of Lincoln’s interaction with Black Illinoisans, both direct and indirect, belies historian Benjamin Quarles’s assertion that before 1861, Lincoln knew only “the Negro of dialect story, minstrel stage, and the sea chantey” and “little of Negro life, of the Negro’s hopes, and of his efforts to move into the mainstream of American life.”72 In fact, he knew many capable, self-respecting Black Illinoisans and their abilities, character, hopes, and “efforts to move into the mainstream of American life.” He interacted with them for over two decades before moving to Washington. As he departed the Prairie State for the nation’s capital, he memorably said, “To this place, and the kindness of these people, I owe everything.” Those people included William Florville, Henry Brown, Mary Brown, Mariah Vance, Ruth Stanton, Mary Shelby, John Shelby, Jameson Jenkins, James Blanks, Jane Pellum, William H. Johnson, William Donnegan, and Spencer Donnegan—African Americans whom he knew and respected, and who in turn knew and respected him.






2 “Blinded by No Prejudices Against Race or Color” Lincoln and African Americans on the White House Staff


African Americans did not start to call on President Lincoln until 1862, but he began interacting with Black Washingtonians as soon as he occupied the White House in March 1861. Rosetta Wells, a seamstress who did some sewing and mending for the First Family, recalled that “he treated the servants like ‘people,’ and would laugh and say kind things to them.”1 Echoing her was another seamstress, the former slave Elizabeth Keckly (Mrs. Lincoln’s dressmaker and confidante), who told a journalist, “I loved him [the president] for his kind manner towards me.” He “was as kind and considerate in his treatment of me as he was of any of the white people about the white house.”2 Peter Brown, a Black waiter, had a young son who spent much time at the Executive Mansion (as the residence was then called) during the Civil War and remembered that Lincoln “was kind to everybody” and “sympathized with us colored folks, and we loved him.”3 The daughter of William Slade, head butler at the White House, reported that the president “never treated [the employees there] as servants, but always was polite and requested service, rather than demand it of them.”4 Presidential secretary William O. Stoddard recalled that in Lincoln’s dealings with both Black and White employees, he “took their presence and the performance of their duties so utterly for granted” that none “of them was ever made to feel, unpleasantly, the fact of his [or her] inferior position by reason of any look or word of the President.”5

LINCOLN AND WILLIAM H. JOHNSON

The best example of Lincoln’s solicitude for Black staff members was his treatment of William H. Johnson, a servant who accompanied the First Family on their journey from Springfield to Washington in 1861. Little is known about Johnson’s time in Springfield other than that he began working at the Lincoln home in early 1860. He may have been the African American who in May of that year helped set up refreshments for the visiting Republican delegation which informed Lincoln of his nomination.6 Johnson may also have been the one to whom Lincoln assigned the task of procuring the family’s daily bread from a local bakery.7 In addition, he may have helped tend to the Lincolns’ young sons, Willie and Tad. In June 1861, Mrs. Lincoln described him to a friend: “We brought a man, with us, who takes care of them [the children], most of the time.”8

Johnson enters the historical record while on the rail journey from Springfield to Washington in February 1861. A journalist aboard the train described him as “a very useful member” of the entourage whose “untiring vigilance” as “he took care of the Presidential party” was “entitled to high credit.”9

Shortly after arriving in Washington, Johnson began working at the Executive Mansion as a porter and presidential valet, much to the consternation of other African American employees. According to John E. Washington, who interviewed Black Washingtonians who had worked in Lincoln’s White House, the appointment of Johnson “almost caused an open rebellion, because of a social distinction. Johnson’s color was very dark and White House servants were always light. He was mistreated in such a way that it became necessary for the president to look elsewhere for employment for him.”10 A historian of intra-racial prejudice in antebellum Washington asserted that “the tradition of complexion-based elitism among blacks was formal, well organized, and of dire social consequences.”11

Such intra-racial prejudice has recently been denominated “colorism,” similar to the nineteenth-century term “colorphobia,” a synonym for Negrophobia. In 2007, sociologist Margaret Hunter noted that many “African Americans feel that discussions of colorism ‘air our dirty laundry’ for all to see and judge” and that most “people of color agree that colorism is an ‘in house’ issue, a personal one that is a tragedy within communities of color. It is at minimum, embarrassing, and at its worst, a sign of racial self-hatred.”12 Such intra-racial prejudice was not confined to the nation’s capital. In 1837, the abolitionist Sarah Grimké expressed dismay at the social stratification within Philadelphia’s Black community: “I mourn the aristocracy that prevails among our colored brethren. I cherished the hope that suffering had humbled them and prepared them to perform a glorious part in the reformation of our country, but the more I mingle with them the fainter are my hopes. They have as much caste among themselves as we have and despise the poor as much as I fear as [do] their pale brethren.”13
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